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The Committee on Transportation was called to order by Chairman Richard Carrillo at 
3:25 p.m. on Tuesday, May 9, 2017, in Room 3143 of the Legislative Building, 401 South 
Carson Street, Carson City, Nevada.  The meeting was videoconferenced to Room 4404B of 
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Legislative Counsel Bureau and on the Nevada Legislature's website at 
www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017. 
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STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
 

Jann Stinnesbeck, Committee Policy Analyst 
Darcy Johnson, Committee Counsel 
Joan Waldock, Committee Secretary 
Trinity Thom, Committee Assistant 

 
OTHERS PRESENT: 
 

Garrett Gordon, representing Community Association Institute 
Tyson Falk, representing Nevada State Apartment Association 
Dawn Lietz, Administrator, Motor Carrier Division, Department of Motor Vehicles  
Brian McAnallen, Government Affairs Manager, Office of Administrative Services, 

City of Las Vegas; and representing Southern Nevada Forum-Transportation 
and Infrastructure Committee 

Scott Scherer, representing Regional Transportation Commission of Southern Nevada  
Jeanette Belz, representing National Association of Surety Bond Producers; and 

Property Casualty Insurers Association of America 
Sophia Romero, Consumer Rights Project, Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada 
Mike Draper, representing eDealer Services, LLC 
Sean P. McDonald, Administrator, Division of Central Services and Records, 

Department of Motor Vehicles 
Emily B. Reed, Program Manager, Self Help Center and Law Library, Second 

Judicial District Court 
Andy MacKay, Executive Director, Nevada Franchised Auto Dealers Association  
Mark C. Wenzel, representing Nevada Justice Association 
Jesse Wadhams, representing American Insurance Association 
Robert L. Compan, Manager, Government and Industry Affairs, Farmers Insurance 
 

Chairman Carrillo:  
[Roll was called.  Committee protocols and rules were explained.]  We will open the hearing 
on Senate Bill 320 (2nd Reprint). 
 
Senate Bill 320 (2nd Reprint):  Sets forth certain conditions relating to the towing or 

immobilizing of a motor vehicle. (BDR 58-1143) 
 
Senator Moises (Mo) Denis, Senate District No. 2: 
In Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS), tow trucks are called "tow cars."  Tow cars in Nevada are 
regulated primarily by the Nevada Transportation Authority (NTA) with the relevant 
provisions located in NRS Chapter 706.  Pursuant to federal law, towing services are divided 
into two categories.  The first is known as consensual towing services where a tow car tows 
a vehicle at the request of the vehicle's owner or insurance company.  This is the kind of tow 
that takes place when you are stuck on the side of the road or in an accident and call a tow 
truck.  Such towing services are primarily regulated through federal regulations.  The NTA 
has limited jurisdiction over that kind of towing. 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5306/Overview/
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The second kind of towing, known as nonconsensual towing, is when someone other than the 
owner of the vehicle requests the tow.  This is the kind of tow that happens when a vehicle is 
illegally parked or abandoned.  The operator of a tow car who wants to make that kind of tow 
has to obtain from the NTA a certificate of convenience and necessity, which is a license that 
allows nonconsensual tows.  The rules and regulations in existing law for these 
nonconsensual tows are the subject of this bill.   
 
I received a phone call from a constituent who lives in an apartment complex.  He had gone 
grocery shopping and returned.  He backed into his assigned spot so he could remove his 
groceries more easily to take up to his apartment.  After getting into his apartment, he forgot 
to reposition his car.  There is a rule in the complex that you cannot park backwards.  When 
he came back out a few hours later, his car had been towed.  That reminded me of something 
that happened to our former colleague, Congressman Ruben Kihuen, when he was living in 
a condominium complex.  The registration on his car came due at the end of the month, so he 
sent it in, along with the payment, on time.  He was waiting for the decal to come back.  
When the new month started, he did not yet have his decal.  A tow truck operator came 
through the complex, saw the car did not have current registration, and towed his car.  That is 
how I came to bring this bill to the Legislature. 
 
Senate Bill 320 (2nd Reprint) in its current form sets forth new conditions if a vehicle is 
being towed from a residential complex.  The bill requires the owner or authorized agent of 
the real property owner to notify the vehicle's owner 48 hours prior to towing by placing 
a notice sticker on the vehicle, providing the date and time that the tow will take place.  
A vehicle may only be towed for a parking violation—for example, parked in a red zone; 
if the vehicle is not registered; or if the registration has been expired for not less than 
60 days.  For any issues related to the health and safety of the residents of the residential 
complex, notification of the vehicle's owner 48 hours prior to towing is not required.  
Existing law makes the violation of any of these provisions a misdemeanor.   
 
If you were parked backwards, a notice sticker would have to be affixed informing you that 
the car was going to be towed in 48 hours, which would give you time to move it.  Nevada 
license registration decals only show the month renewal is due.  If your registration is due at 
the end of the month, your new decals might not come until the new month.  Unless tow 
operators have a way to look up when the registration is due, which they do not, you would 
need the 60 days to determine if the registration truly had lapsed.   
 
The amendment we added allows the owner or possessor of a multilevel parking garage that 
is operated for a resort hotel to immobilize a vehicle illegally parked in the garage by means 
of a boot, wheel clamp, or other mechanical device under certain circumstances.  The bill 
provides procedures for paying to remove a boot, wheel clamp, or other mechanical device, 
the cost of which must not exceed $100.  This came to us because it is difficult for resort 
hotels to get tow trucks into their parking garages, but if cars are parked illegally, there needs 
to be something they can do.  We wanted to put a cap on removal so there would not be 
runaway costs.  Some of those who looked at the bill wanted some clarifying language 
added.   
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There is a conceptual amendment (Exhibit C).  In section 1, subsection 2, paragraph (a), 
subparagraph (2), the amendments adds:   

 
If the vehicle is being towed pursuant to subparagraph (1), (2) or (3) of 
paragraph (b), notify the owner or operator of the vehicle of the tow not less 
than 48 hours before the tow by affixing to the vehicle a sticker which 
provides the date and time after which the vehicle will be towed.   
 

In other words, the way the bill currently reads, a notice sticker would be affixed that tells the 
owner that in 48 hours to the minute your car will be towed.  The amendment says that 
the car will be towed after 48 hours. 
 
The second part of the amendment is in section 1, subsection 2, paragraph (b), 
subparagraph (3).  It says: 
 

If the registration of the vehicle has been expired for not less than 60 days for 
residents of the residential complex or if the registration of the vehicle has 
been expired for any period of time for nonresidents of the residential 
complex . . . .   

 
There had been a concern that people would figure out that a tow operator was not going 
to come for 60 days because of the registration, so a nonresident of the complex would park 
a car in visitor parking, and it could not be towed for 60 days.  What this does is state that 
a nonresident's car could be towed immediately, but a resident would have the 60 days. 
 
The third amendment refers to section 1, subsection (2), paragraph (b), subparagraph (4):   
 

Incorporate the provisions of NRS 116.3102(s): 
(s) . . . the association must post written notice in a conspicuous place on the 
vehicle or provide oral or written notice to the owner or operator of the 
vehicle at least 48 hours before the association may direct the removal of the 
vehicle, unless the vehicle: 
 

(1)  Is blocking a fire hydrant, fire lane or parking space designated for 
the handicapped; or 
 
(2)  Poses an imminent threat of causing a substantial adverse effect on 
the health, safety or welfare of the units' owners or residents of the 
common-interest community. 

  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033C.pdf
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The reason for this change is to bring it in line with what we currently do with gated 
communities.  There is a separate part in statutes that uses this language, so we are trying to 
bring this into compliance so that we do not have two different definitions. 
 
That concludes my presentation.  There are some here who will come to testify.  I am happy 
to answer any questions. 
 
Assemblywoman Spiegel:  
I think this bill is fabulous.  I lived in an apartment complex that allowed predatory towing.  
Every Thursday was tow day—two tow trucks would come in, wait at the office, then drive 
around and find cars to tow.  Similar to the story you told about Congressman Kihuen, 
one time we had reregistered our car and the decal had not come when the month changed.  
One of the things that amazed me was that our car was registered.  If they had checked the 
vehicle identification number (VIN), they would have seen that the car was registered.  
I would like to ask you to consider adding a requirement there be a VIN check.  The 60 days 
will probably take care of it, but this is something that happens to Nevadans.  I am delighted 
you are addressing this because most people living in apartments do not have the $250 to 
$300 to throw away to regain their cars when they are towed, especially when towed 
frivolously and done in a predatory manner. 
 
Senator Denis: 
The VINs are not checked.  I do not know if tow truck drivers even have the ability to do 
that.  I had not mentioned predatory towing, but it does occur.  Some of the complexes in my 
district allow it.  That is what happened to Congressman Kihuen—the manager let the tow 
truck in.  The operator could then drive through the complex looking for cars with lapsed 
registration.  Requiring them to wait 60 days before towing should catch that. 
 
Chairman Carrillo: 
Are there questions from any other Committee members? 
 
Assemblyman Sprinkle:  
Where did you come up with the $100 charge for removing the boot? 
 
Senator Denis: 
We did not want it to be more than that.  The way this bill was originally written, the hotels 
would come up with a reasonable amount.  Rather than leave it up to the hotels to determine, 
we fixed that rate so that it would not get out of control.  A tow would be $200 or $300.  
In this case, they are not having a tow truck come, they just put the boot on.  Security would 
probably remove it. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:   
Are there any other questions from Committee members?  [There were none.]  I have 
a question regarding the resort hotel putting a boot on a car.  If someone had a placard and 
parked in a handicapped spot and there was a question about whether that person actually  
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was handicapped, could the hotel put a boot on the car?  If the person was not handicapped, 
parking in the handicapped spot would put him in violation of the rules established by 
the private property owner.  Does parking in the handicapped spot change anything? 
 
Senator Denis: 
There are some people here who can speak to that.  We have hotels that charge for parking 
and some that do not.  Guests might park in the garage that is free, then walk across the street 
to the hotel where they are staying.  The resort hotels want to keep parking spots available for 
their own guests.  I would think that even if you are handicapped and doing that—parking in 
the free garage, then walking to your own hotel—you would be in violation.  I would think, 
though, that a person would park in the handicapped spot in order to be closer to the 
entrance.  I think it would be treated the same. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
I have a question about the 48-hours notification.  It basically says that, if the car is not 
moved in the next 48 hours, it is subject to being towed.  What if the owner of the vehicle 
simply moves the car to a different parking spot?  Would the property owner or manager be 
required to give another 48-hours notification?  Could an owner continue to repark the car? 
 
Senator Denis: 
Technically, you probably could.  I think you would have to ask legal counsel how that 
would work. 
 
Darcy Johnson, Committee Counsel: 
I think what Senator Denis said is correct.  Every time a vehicle is found to be in violation, 
the 48-hour clock starts again.  I am not certain how we could fix that.  I will try to figure 
something out and get back to you. 
 
Senator Denis: 
That is not unlike folks who park their cars on the street in a two-hour parking zone.  Their 
tires are marked, then they move their cars to the next parking slot.   
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
I want to apologize to the individual who brought the conceptual amendment forward.  I did 
not realize it was in my email box.  It is on the Nevada Electronic Legislative Information 
System (NELIS) now.  There was concern that there is a different chapter in NRS concerning 
homeowners' associations (HOAs) than there is for apartments and townhomes. 
 
Garrett Gordon, representing Community Association Institute: 
I want to thank the sponsor for working with me on the conceptual amendment.  
Homeowners' associations are regulated by NRS Chapter 116, the Common-Interest 
Ownership (Uniform Act).  That act has towing provisions in it, including the 48-hour rule 
and exceptions for fire hydrants, fire lanes, parking spaces for handicapped, and others.  
The background of the conceptual amendment is to make sure that NRS Chapter 116 marries 
up now with NRS Chapter 706 with these new revisions.  This bill deals with a residential 
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complex which is defined in section 1, subsection 6(b) as "a group of apartments, 
condominiums or townhomes."  It does not apply to the single-family HOAs which are 
regulated by NRS Chapter 116 in these specific circumstances.  We also potentially have 
a common-interest community created.  These would now be consistent.   
 
Chairman Carrillo: 
I will give Committee members time to read the amendment. 
 
Assemblyman Ellison: 
In the section regarding parking garages, the bill says that the cost must not exceed $100.  
What about storage fees? 
 
Senator Denis: 
The $100 fee applies to the multilevel parking garages, when a boot has been put on a car.  
There would be no storage associated with that. 
 
Assemblyman Ellison:  
Are there multilevel parking garages for apartments? 
 
Senator Denis: 
We have two separate things we are dealing with in this bill.  One is the part about towing in 
apartment complexes.  The other is about parking in a multilevel parking garage, giving 
resort hotels the ability to put a boot on a car that is parked.  Currently, they would have to 
tow a car; this bill would allow them to put a boot on the car.  Removing the boot cannot 
exceed $100. 
 
Assemblyman Ellison: 
What if the car has been abandoned?  Would they be allowed to tow it after a certain length 
of time? 
 
Senator Denis: 
This bill does not address that issue.  There are people here who can speak to that.  I would 
imagine they would have the car towed after a few days.  They can currently do that. 
 
Assemblywoman Spiegel:  
My question for you, Mr. Gordon, relates to the question I asked the bill sponsor.  If someone 
who is not a resident of a residential complex had his car towed for not having a current 
decal, but the car was registered, would that incur liability for the HOA? 
 
Garrett Gordon: 
In that situation, the conceptual amendment states that a nonresident with an expired decal 
could, in fact, have his car towed.  There is no obligation to do any further research of the 
VIN to discover whether or not the fees have been paid.  I do not believe there would be any  
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liability for the HOA.  I believe they can rely upon the fact that there is an expired decal on 
the car, giving them the right to have the car towed.  I can confirm that with attorneys and get 
back to you. 
 
Assemblywoman Spiegel: 
Would you be open to having tow operators do a VIN check before towing?  The VINs are 
visible through the driver's side window.   
 
Senator Denis: 
First, the car owner must be a nonresident.  The manager would have to verify that.  
We would not have the issue of predatory towing.  The tow operator would not know if the 
car belonged to a resident without talking with the manager. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Are there any other questions?  [There were none.]  Is there support for S.B. 320 (R2)?  
[There was none.]  Is there opposition?  [There was none.]  Is anyone neutral?  
 
Tyson Falk, representing Nevada State Apartment Association:  
I would like to first thank the sponsor for working with us, both in the Senate and here, to 
address a lot of our concerns.  The only remaining concern we have is something that you, 
Chairman Carrillo, pointed out.  Some of our apartment complexes are located across from 
universities and resort areas.  We want to be sure that folks will not be able to block parking 
spaces for our residents by parking in our complexes.  If we give them a notice indicating 
they will be towed in 48 hours, they could leave, come back, and park again the next day.  
That could become a problem.  I know that is not Senator Denis' intent.  Once that is cleared 
up with the Legal Division, we would be neutral on the bill. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Our Committee Counsel has a question for the sponsor of the conceptual amendment. 
 
Darcy Johnson, Committee Counsel:  
I am looking at the third portion of your amendment incorporating the provisions of 
NRS 116.3102(s).  Is it your intent that we model the language of this provision in section 1 
of the bill after that?  In other words, would there be 48-hours notification for everything 
except if the car is blocking or poses an imminent threat, in which case it could be moved 
immediately? 
 
Garrett Gordon: 
Yes, that is the intent. 
 
Darcy Johnson: 
Would it be up to the owner of the property to determine if the vehicle belongs to a resident 
or nonresident in the second part of your amendment?  In the case of an association, would 
it be the association's responsibility to determine if the car belonged to a resident?  The tow 
car operator would not be responsible, is that correct? 
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Garrett Gordon: 
Yes.  The burden is on the association to make the resident or nonresident distinction.   
 
Darcy Johnson: 
If that information is not available, would we treat the vehicle as if it belonged to a resident? 
 
Garrett Gordon: 
That is my understanding.  To get to the Vice Chair's question about checking VINs, my 
understanding is that a VIN check by a non-DMV employee only confirms who the owner is.  
It does not confirm whether or not the car is registered.   
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Could we have the bill's sponsor come up and give closing comments? 
 
Senator Denis: 
I am trying to put in place something that will help protect some people.  In my district, 
if you tow a car and it will cost the owner $300 to recover it, the owner will not have the 
money to do so.  They would then be without transportation.  This bill will give breathing 
room to someone before a car is towed for being parked backwards while the driver is 
unloading groceries.   
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Thank you for working with the stakeholders.  After our work session, we will hear the 
remaining bills in the following order:  Senate Bill 448 (1st Reprint), Senate Bill 452 
(1st Reprint), and Senate Bill 308 (1st Reprint).  We will now open the work session on 
Senate Bill 13. 
 
Senate Bill 13:  Abolishes the Advisory Board on Motorcycle Safety. (BDR 43-311) 
 
Jann Stinnesbeck, Committee Policy Analyst:  
Senate Bill 13 abolishes the Advisory Board on Motorcycle Safety.  This bill was heard in 
this Committee on April 20, 2017.  [He read from work session document (Exhibit D).]   
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
This is not a rehearing of the bill.  I will accept a motion. 
 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN SPIEGEL MADE A MOTION TO DO PASS 
SENATE BILL 13. 
 
ASSEMBLYWOMAN BILBRAY-AXELROD SECONDED THE MOTION. 

  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/4606/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033D.pdf
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Chairman Carrillo:  
Is there any discussion on the motion?  [There was none.] 
 

THE MOTION PASSED.  (ASSEMBLYWOMAN WOODBURY WAS 
ABSENT FOR THE VOTE.) 

 
Chairman Carrillo:  
The motion carries.  Assemblywoman Spiegel will take the floor statement.   
 
Senate Bill 15:  Revises provisions governing vehicle registration and license plates. 

(BDR 43-173) 
 
Jann Stinnesbeck, Committee Policy Analyst: 
Senate Bill 15 was heard in this Committee on April 20, 2017.  The bill clarifies 
the difference between "duplicate license plates" and "replacement license plates" by 
defining "replacement number plate" to mean a license plate that previously was issued but 
has been expired for a continuous period of more than 18 months.  The bill revises the 
citation for a "hunter's permit" to conform to the newly amended version of the International 
Registration Plan.  [He read from work session document (Exhibit E).] 
 
Chairman Carrillo: 
I will take a motion. 
 

ASSEMBLYMAN WHEELER MOVED TO DO PASS SENATE BILL 15.   
 
ASSEMBLYWOMAN SPIEGEL SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 

Chairman Carrillo:  
Is there any discussion?  [There was none.]   
 

THE MOTION PASSED.  (ASSEMBLYWOMAN WOODBURY WAS 
ABSENT FOR THE VOTE.) 
 

Chairman Carrillo:  
The motion carries.  Assemblyman Wheeler will take the floor statement. 
 
Senate Bill 31 (1st Reprint):  Revises provisions governing the registration and 

regulation of commercial motor vehicles. (BDR 43-141) 
 
Jann Stinnesbeck, Committee Policy Analyst:  
The bill was heard in this Committee on May 2, 2017.  Senate Bill 31 (1st Reprint) requires 
certain intrastate commercial motor vehicles that are required to register with the Department 
of Motor Vehicles (DMV) to do so through the Motor Carrier Division and to obtain  
  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/4609/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033E.pdf
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/4639/Overview/
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a United States Department of Transportation (USDOT) number.  This requirement applies 
to intrastate commercial motor vehicles, other than farm vehicles, over 26,000 pounds or 
commercial motor vehicles transporting hazardous materials, regardless of weight.  
 
Furthermore, a peace officer may seize the license plates of an intrastate vehicle if the motor 
carrier is subject to certain out-of-service orders, send the plates to the DMV, and notify the 
motor carrier.  If the motor carrier is not the registered owner of the vehicle, a peace officer 
may impound the vehicle and notify the owner of the impoundment.  
 
Lastly, the bill adds an authorization for DMV to register a commercial motor vehicle up to 
83,000 pounds if operation of the truck is authorized by federal law.  
 
There is one amendment to this bill, brought forward by Dawn Lietz of Nevada's DMV.  
The amendment revises the maximum fee for certain federally authorized trucks to the same 
cap as in existing law.  If this amendment is enacted, it will result in removing the 2/3 vote 
requirement.  Further, the amendment gives certain motor carriers the option, in lieu of 
providing a bond, to enter into an agreement with the Department to pay an amount 
established by the Department for any missing inventory.  That amendment is attached to 
the work session document.  [He read from work session document (Exhibit F).]  
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Do I have a motion? 
 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN SPIEGEL MADE A MOTION TO AMEND AND 
DO PASS SENATE BILL 31 (1ST REPRINT). 
 
ASSEMBLYMAN WHEELER SECONDED THE MOTION. 
 

Chairman Carrillo:  
Is there any discussion?  
 
Assemblyman Ellison:  
Section 5 of the amendment makes reference to motor carriers other than farm vehicles.  
Does that mean ranch and farm?  One type of truck hauls hay; the other hauls cows.  I want 
to make sure for the record that both are covered. 
 
Dawn Lietz, Administrator, Motor Carrier Division, Department of Motor Vehicles: 
It will cover any vehicle that currently has a farmer or rancher exemption.  If you get that 
exemption when you register the vehicle, the vehicle will not be required to have a USDOT 
number. 
  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033F.pdf
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Assemblyman Ellison:  
Why is 2/3 majority vote required for this bill? 
 
Dawn Lietz: 
I believe the 2/3 requirement was removed with the amendment. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
 

THE MOTION PASSED.  (ASSEMBLYWOMAN WOODBURY WAS 
ABSENT FOR THE VOTE.) 
 

Chairman Carrillo:  
Assemblyman Ellison will take the floor statement.  We will open the hearing on 
Senate Bill 448 (1st Reprint). 
 
Senate Bill 448 (1st Reprint):  Revises provisions relating to public works. (BDR 28-603) 
 
Brian McAnallen, Government Affairs Manager, Office of Administrative Services, 

City of Las Vegas; and representing Southern Nevada Forum-Transportation 
and Infrastructure Committee: 

To my right are two of our four chairmen.  We worked with Senators Manendo and 
Hammond, Assemblyman Chris Edwards, and Assemblywoman Heidi Swank.  For the last 
year and a half before this session convened, the Southern Nevada Forum-Transportation and 
Infrastructure Committee met numerous times.  For those of you who may not be familiar 
with the Southern Nevada Forum, the group has been around for a couple of years.  
It consists of anyone from southern Nevada interested about these policy issues.  The idea is 
to try to work together as a region to come up with solutions.  We brought bills before the 
previous session and have brought bills before this session.  Our committee was tasked with 
coming up with recommendations on transportation and infrastructure.  We had a series of 
bills relating to that:  Senate Bill 149, that was heard recently, Senate Bill 517, and 
Senate Bill 448 (1st Reprint) which is in front of you now.  This bill is our public-private 
partnership (P3) bill.  It came out of that committee after numerous meetings and lots of 
testimony.  We had over 13 meetings during the interim with anywhere from 30 to 40 people 
in attendance.  At the end of all of the committee work, we met as a large group, the Southern 
Nevada Forum, with more than 200 attending.  We collectively voted on the priorities.  This 
bill was one of them.   
 
We believe this bill will make a difference as we move forward with transportation and 
infrastructure projects throughout the state, especially as Congress and the new 
Administration look at a major infrastructure investment package.  These are the types of 
tools we need to access those and leverage all dollars we can going forward.  With that, I will 
allow our chairmen to address this issue.  The City of Las Vegas fully supports S.B. 448 
(R1). 
 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5556/Overview/
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Senator Mark A. Manendo, Senate District No. 21: 
This bill is one of our southern Nevada priority bills we worked on.  We had quite a group of 
individuals working collaboratively to bring forth pieces of legislation.  In the Senate, this 
was the third of three bills.  Senate Bill 517 (First Reprint) is still in the Senate and will come 
here next.  All the bills we are discussing will provide additional tools to our public agencies 
to address our transportation infrastructure needs.  As we continue to grow as a state, we are 
going to be faced with some big decisions on transportation infrastructure, and we must have 
innovative tools necessary to effectively and efficiently address these issues.  Expanding the 
authority to use public-private partnerships will give public entities the flexibility to procure 
projects in whatever way benefits the public the most.  There is nothing in this bill that 
requires an entity to use this method in place of other traditional procurement methods.  
If entities, however, find that using a public-private partnership will lead to more access to 
private financing or more effective project management or some other benefit not available 
through our traditional procurement methods, then I believe the public entities should have 
the flexibility to use public-private partnerships where appropriate.   
 
I really appreciate the City of Las Vegas and Mr. McAnallen for the hard work with the 
Southern Nevada Forum.  It was a pleasure to work in a bipartisan manner with 
Assemblyman Wheeler and with the co-chair, Senator Hammond. 
 
Senator Scott Hammond, Senate District No. 18: 
The pivotal point of the legislation we have brought to you so far stems from a trip that we 
all took to Denver.  Legislators, stakeholders, people who have dealt with P3s in the past, law 
firms, and lobbyists representing different areas were part of the trip.  The Denver trip is 
important because Denver symbolizes where we want to be in the western region of the 
country.  Some of the things we saw are a shift from urban areas being "car centric" to 
thinking about how to move people around without the use of individual cars.  One of things 
other urban areas are using is the P3 method of funding—the ability to fuse public money 
and private money together in these projects.   
 
Two projects we saw stand out in my mind.  One was the Union Station, which was old and 
dilapidated; they needed funding for it.  It is now the hub of their whole infrastructure area.  
The other was the Eagle P3 project, which is one of the spurs going out of the Denver area.  
It had about a $450 million private infusion of funds.  Those are the kinds of projects we are 
looking at—large projects. 
 
What are P3s?  Public-private partnerships are innovative financing and project delivery 
mechanisms for important infrastructure projects.  They are contractual agreements between 
public entities and private enterprises that allow the private sector to assume additional 
project risks and responsibilities.  Traditionally, infrastructure projects have been based on 
public design and public financing.  Today, however, more projects are done based 
on design-build procurement, in which a private contractor is responsible for both the design 
and construction of a project for a fixed price.  Senate Bill 448 (R1) expands the types of 
projects that may use P3s to include a wide range of transportation projects, including transit.   
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It will also make sure that all P3 models that would serve the public interest would be 
available for transportation projects, including models where the private sector would 
be responsible for designing, building, financing, operating, and maintaining projects. 
 
Public-private partnerships have benefits to them.  Some of the benefits you will hear most 
often are they increase access to private capital, they spur innovation, and they provide an 
efficient project management style.  That is why we believe this was an important measure to 
bring to the Southern Nevada Forum.  A lot of the Forum's time was dedicated to discussion 
of its benefits.  The stakeholders you will hear from believed this is necessary to move us 
forward.  Denver is way ahead of where we are right now.  We think this is something to 
aspire to, but we saw what it took for Denver to get there—the tools that were necessary 
to accomplish what they have done.  Public-private partnership funding is one of the tools 
they used. 
 
Senator Manendo:  
At the end of the day, it is about jobs.  This package of bills that you are hearing is about 
economic development, working with private industry and the public, and seeing what we 
can do because we are, sadly, so far behind on the curve.  I think people will look back at this 
session and remember this set of innovative transportation bills and where we are taking not 
only southern Nevada, but the whole state.  People will look back on this session, and this 
will be a landmark. 
 
Assemblyman Wheeler: 
I am looking at an amendment on Nevada Electronic Legislative Information System 
(NELIS) that looks as if it came in from another Senator (Exhibit G).  Is it a friendly 
amendment? 
 
Senator Hammond: 
While we may be friends, it may not be a friendly amendment.  I think the legislation is good 
as it is.  I am not sure we are ready to consider that amendment right now.   
 
Senator Manendo: 
I think others here will be testifying.  I have not had an opportunity to hear all the feedback 
on that particular amendment.  I am curious as to how all this will play out. 
 
Scott Scherer, representing Regional Transportation Commission of Southern Nevada: 
Senate Bill 448 (R1), as you have heard, expands the ability to use public-private 
partnerships and provides more details with regard to the requirements governing P3s.  
Currently, P3s may only be used for certain transportation projects, specifically excluding 
toll bridges and toll roads.  Senate Bill 448 (R1) expands the use of P3s to "projects" as 
defined in NRS Chapter 271A, which governs Tourism Improvements. 
 
Senate Bill 448 (R1) also allows P3s to be used for a broader range of transportation 
facilities, including transportation facilities that use autonomous technology, multimodal 
facilities, and certain ancillary facilities including communications, energy, or related 
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technology that may be necessary for such facilities.  This will help improve efficiency and 
lower costs by providing better coordination and including all of the necessary components 
in the initial construction with a "dig once" mentality.  Finally, S.B. 448 (R1) provides more 
detail on the authorized processes and requirements for using P3s. 
 
In addition to innovative designs and new technology, a study conducted by experts at 
Arizona State University found that major projects built through P3s have fewer cost 
overruns and are more likely to be completed on time.  In addition, P3s provide additional 
methods of financing major projects by bringing potential private financing to the table.  
A study published last year found that almost half of the financing of P3 projects came from 
private sources, nearly doubling the infrastructure funds available.  Senate Bill 448 (R1) is 
a bipartisan bill that passed the Senate unanimously. 
 
I would like to walk through the key sections.  Sections 2 through 8 are definitions.  One of 
the key ones is section 4, defining "eligible facility."  Subsection 2 of that section brings in 
tourism infrastructure.  Section 9 provides the types of public-private partnerships.  One of 
the key changes here is the ability to have private financing and to put out a bid that would 
include the financing of the project.  Section 10 describes the way the bid process would 
work for public-private partnerships, providing different mechanisms for that bid process.  
Subsection 2 of section 10 describes the types of evaluation criteria that would be involved in 
choosing the winning bidder.  The evaluation criteria have to be set forth in the solicitation 
documents. 
 
Section 11 talks about the types of financing.  You will see that it includes public financing, 
private financing, grants, donations, gifts, federal money, user fees, private activity bonds, 
and other types of public and private capital available including any combination of 
financing sources.  Section 12 provides for federal sources of money and grants and the 
combining of sources.  Section 13 provides that money that is received and used by 
a public-private partnership that is derived from a charge relating to the operation of a motor 
vehicle on a public highway must, if there are excess funds over and above the amount paid 
for the project, be deposited in the State Highway Fund—that is constitutionally required.  
Under this provision of the bill, those funds would have to be spent in the county in which 
the revenue was generated. 
 
Section 14 of the bill contains typical confidentiality provisions in the procurement process 
for certain trade secrets and proprietary information.  This was amended in the Senate to 
ensure that, in the bid process, the bid documents would become available after the contract 
is awarded but before it is actually signed.  That way, if a company thinks it was not treated 
fairly in the bid process, it would have the ability to review the pertinent documents and 
decide whether to file an appeal or a protest on the award of that bid.   
 
Section 15 provides for eminent domain, but you will note that the first line says, "This State, 
or any public agency so authorized under chapter 37 of NRS . . . ."  This does not expand 
eminent domain, it simply notes that those agencies that already have the ability to use 
eminent domain can use it in association with one of these projects. 
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Section 16 says that if no federal money is used, then state laws govern.  If federal money is 
used, then we have to follow any federal rules with regard to the use of that money.  
Section 17 expands the definition of "transportation facility."  This is similar to what you saw 
in Senate Bill 149 (1st Reprint) the other day.  We tried to make them identical so that 
we will not have conflicting definitions in the bills we are bringing forward. 
 
Sections 18 through 21 contain conforming changes that align this bill with 
NRS Chapter 338.  Section 21 requires that the eligible facility serve a public service 
purpose.  That is in existing law; we are not changing that by the adoption of these new 
provisions.  We want to make you aware of that.  Section 21, subsection 5 includes 
mandatory provisions of an agreement for public-private partnerships.  These must be in the 
agreement, including paragraph (d), which requires compliance with all state standards and 
any applicable federal standards.  Paragraph (e) refers to the use of fees—if there is excess 
revenue, it must remain in the county of origin.  Subsection 6 contains permissive provisions 
that are typical in a major infrastructure construction contract.  These are not mandatory, but 
this subsection gives a good list of the kinds of provisions the public body might want to 
consider in this kind of agreement.  In some cases they will not be applicable to every 
project, but where they are applicable, they are good provisions for the public body 
to consider including in the agreement.  Section 24 talks about the bid process and 
the confidentiality of certain documents in the bid process.  This incorporates that 
conforming change into existing law. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Are there questions from Committee members? 
 
Assemblyman Sprinkle:  
I am hesitant to ask my question, because it borders on fiscal consideration.  I assume this 
has already been vetted, although I do not believe it went to the Senate Committee on 
Finance.  Section 12, subsection 2 talks about the commingling of private and public dollars 
into one account.  I already talked with our fiscal staff about this.  They said this is allowable 
as long as there is specific language as is located in this bill.  Is there any kind of 
transparency or accountability for the private dollars that are a part of that fund?  
By commingling them, how do we remain accountable and transparent with the public 
dollars that are being used? 
 
Mr. Chairman, I hope my question is not too financial for this Committee.  I do not believe 
this bill will be going to a fiscal committee 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
We are not talking about specific amounts. 
 
Scott Scherer: 
If funds are commingled, then they will be subject to public accountability rules because they 
would effectively be a public account.  Additionally, the way those funds are treated would 
be handled by the agreement between the public body and the private entity doing 
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the contract.  If there is going to be private financing, there must obviously be a way to pay 
that financing back.  Set forth in the agreements would be provisions regarding user fees—
how they will be charged, collected, and what portion will be used to pay back the private 
financing.  That would all be addressed in the agreements.  Those are in the later sections of 
the bill.  Section 21, subsection 6, paragraph (a) authorizes the public body or the person 
to establish and collect user fees, rents, et cetera.  Paragraph (c) would establish 
circumstances under which the public body may receive all or a share of revenues from the 
charges.  Paragraph (d) governs enforcement of applicable fees.  Paragraph (e) would 
authorize the public body to continue or cease collection of user charges at the end of the 
term of the agreement.  Those provisions would be addressing your question.  They address 
how fees are collected, how they will be divided, and what portion repays the private 
financing, and what portion remains with the public entity.   
 
Assemblyman Sprinkle:  
That helps as far as the transparency is concerned.  If there is this commingling of dollars, 
where that may become a gray area is in the intent to use this funding to attract matching 
federal funds.  How is that possible?  I do not think you can use private dollars to get federal 
dollars. 
 
Scott Scherer: 
In some cases we would want to use federal dollars, federal grants, or private grants.  
The idea is to make this as flexible as possible.  If the rules of that particular federal grant 
prohibit commingling with private dollars, we would have to make sure that we segregated 
those accounts.  We want to have different options.  We do not know that any particular 
project will necessarily be built using a public-private partnership, but P3 is a tool that the 
Southern Nevada Forum saw was used effectively in Denver.  According to the studies 
we have reviewed, they have been used effectively in a number of different jurisdictions—
not just in the United States, but around the world.   
 
This is just another tool in the toolbox.  We want it to be a flexible tool to be used as 
particular projects come up.  When we advertise for these projects, instead of saying we want 
to build X in Y manner, we would be able to say that we have a problem with too much 
congestion in the southeast part of town.  Propose your solution for moving people more 
effectively and efficiently.  That would let the private sector go to work in coming up with 
innovative solutions to that problem.  We would be able to present the problem, have people 
offer their best solutions for the project, and negotiate the appropriate agreements to address 
the project.  That may be with private financing, or perhaps just public financing or federal 
financing. 
 
Assemblyman Sprinkle:  
I recognize that P3 projects are becoming more popular and that this is something we need to 
have the ability to embrace.  The concern behind my question is—if those dollars are 
commingled, we get federal matching funds, then we spend those dollars to start a project.  
What happens if it turns out that private dollars were not allowed?  The state would then be 
on the hook.  That is my only concern about transparency—where the dollars came from. 
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Scott Scherer: 
At least from the standpoint of the RTC, our goal would be to do our homework ahead of 
time so that we know what the potential sources are and what the rules are with those 
potential sources.  We would make sure we were following those rules.   
 
Assemblyman Wheeler: 
Section 15 says that a ". . . public agency so authorized under chapter 37 of NRS, may 
exercise the power of eminent domain . . . ."  Does that exist now?  Are there any agencies 
authorized under chapter 37 that cannot use eminent domain to acquire property, or are we 
expanding those agencies? 
 
Scott Scherer: 
We are not expanding the agencies that can use eminent domain, and that is certainly not the 
intent.  The intent is simply to make sure those agencies that already have the right to use 
eminent domain can do so even if it is a public-private partnership project. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Are there any other questions?  [There were none.]  Could existing roads be subject to 
becoming toll roads? 
 
Scott Scherer: 
That is not our intent.  The definition of "project" would allow for a major renovation.  
Theoretically, it could happen, but it is not our intent.  If toll roads were to be built, they 
would be new construction highways that give an alternative to motorists, while there is still 
another route available without a toll.   
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Existing roads could not become toll roads, is that correct?  For example, could you put a toll 
on Maryland Parkway? 
 
Scott Scherer: 
Nothing in the bill prohibits that, but it is not our intent to do that.  With a lot of projects, we 
have seen an additional lane built, but it is an extra lane.  That lane might have a toll, similar 
to some of the high occupancy lanes we have now.  The intent is to allow people to use 
existing roads and to make sure they have an alternative that does not require payment of 
tolls. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Is there testimony in support of S.B. 448 (R1) in northern Nevada?  [There was none.]  
Is there support in southern Nevada?  [There was none.]  Is there opposition in northern or 
southern Nevada?  [There was none.]  Is anyone neutral? 
 
Senator Patricia Farley, Senate District No. 8: 
I am here with what I believe is a friendly amendment to Senator Manendo's bill (Exhibit G).  
This amendment addresses certain provisions that were passed in the 30th Special Session.  
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As many of you may recall, we amended Senate Bill 1 of the 30th Special Session to include 
a provision on the stadium project, the University of Nevada, Las Vegas (UNLV) project, 
and the convention project such that 15 percent of that work go through local small 
businesses.  I would find it hard to believe that any of us would find that as a hostile or not 
a friendly opportunity to encourage or enhance small businesses active in our public works, 
especially on these jobs.   
 
In short, this amendment encourages the success of small, local businesses that are involved 
in building the stadium in Las Vegas and on renovations on the convention center.  This 
would also cover the stadium for UNLV, should that become an option.  For this purpose the 
amendment requires that small, local businesses have to have operated in the state for at least 
four years.  The amendment removes the exemption for performance and payment bonds for 
construction as provided in Chapter 339 of NRS.  Further, the Stadium Authority, the 
Campus Improvement Authority, and the Convention Authority must offer seminars on 
the following topics to each small local business to which work is subcontracted: 
 

• The types and purposes of bonds and insurance coverage. 
• The establishment of loans and business lines of credit. 
• Risk management. 
• Basic financial accounting structures. 
• State and federal programs to provide assistance to small local businesses. 

 
The reason we are adding this is that small businesses usually do not understand how they 
can participate in these types of projects.  We are asking each Authority to take the time to 
pull in several seminars and educate businesses on products available to them and on the 
opportunities available to them.  It also helps each of these builders to hit the 15 percent 
requirement.  I see that as very friendly to Nevada and to Nevada businesses. 
 
Lastly, the amendment also authorizes such small, local businesses to request to enter into 
a written mentorship agreement with a contractor.  The agreement must: 
 

• Contain provisions that further the goal of enhancing the capabilities of the small 
local business. 

• Authorize the contractor or small local business to terminate the agreement upon 
30-days' notice. 

• Be submitted to the Authorities and become effective only upon the approval of 
the Board of Directors. 

 
A lot of our state is made up of small businesses that are not used to working on projects like 
this.  The ability to create these mentorship agreements helps small businesses become 
medium-sized businesses, secure these jobs, and gain the experience so they can continue to 
grow.  That is only a benefit to our state.   
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In conclusion, the provisions in this amendment will help to ensure small, local businesses in 
Nevada are successful and benefit from the various projects that were encouraged in the last 
special session.  I want to thank Senator Manendo for bringing this bill forward and thank 
the Committee for considering my proposed amendment. 
 
Chairman Carrillo: 
I believe you had an amendment as well, Ms. Belz. 
 
Jeanette Belz, representing National Association of Surety Bond Producers: 
Yes. 
 
Chairman Carrillo: 
Senator Farley, the Committee might have questions about your amendment.  Does anyone 
have questions?  [There was no one.]  Have you been working with the bill sponsor on your 
amendment? 
 
Senator Farley: 
Yes.  I think there was some confusion about what was coming in the amendment.  We were 
working on this on the Senate side but had some changes, so this was not introduced there.  
We waited until coming over here so that we would have all the language straight and not 
need to have several hearings. 
 
Jeanette Belz: 
I want to thank Senator Farley for working with us on her portion of the amendment.  
We submitted an amendment (Exhibit H) specific to section 21, subsection 6, paragraph (r).  
We want to thank Scott Scherer and the RTC of Southern Nevada for working with us on it.  
This amendment makes clear that the protections of statutory bonding requirements as set 
forth in NRS 339.025 are included in P3 agreements as well.  Even though P3 agreements 
may be privately managed and, in part, financed, the completed construction project is 
a public works project.  Thus, the public entity, taxpayers, subcontractors, and suppliers must 
be protected as on any other public works project in Nevada.  While NRS 339.025 sets 
performance and payment bonds at 50 percent of the contract amount, the public authority 
may want to consider surety bonds or other forms of security to mitigate additional risk 
exposure and for added payment protection to downstream parties, such as subcontractors 
and suppliers, participating in such P3 agreements.  We appreciate working with the RTC of 
Southern Nevada in crafting this language.  It took us a few weeks to get there. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Are there questions from Committee members?  [There were none.]  I am under the 
assumption that you have been working with the bill sponsor.  We have a question from 
Assemblyman Ellison. 
 
Assemblyman Ellison:  
My question is regarding the bonds and security notes.  When you get into public-private 
partnerships, the public body is the government.  The private partner is the private sector 
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with interests.  Section 11 says "An eligible facility may be financed, in whole or in part, 
with money from any lawful source, including, without limitation . . . ."  When you go back 
to bonding, you talked about 50 percent.  The problem I have is the phrase "without 
limitation."  There are limitations to everything.  Without limitations, would a bonding 
company be able to bond?  Section 24 mentions an estimated cost which exceeds $5 million 
in line 41.  Will that be the threshold we max out at? 
 
Jeanette Belz: 
I think that question would be better addressed to the bill sponsor. 
 
Assemblyman Ellison:  
I am not trying to get into what they are trying to do.  I want to make sure that when we have 
public and private partners working together, the public is also protected by security bonds or 
whatever.   
 
Jeanette Belz: 
If you look at the language as originally stated in paragraph (r), there was no reference to the 
Little Miller Act in NRS Chapter 339.  That is incorporated into the bill now.  We feel that 
provides the protections you are seeking for the public body. 
 
Assemblyman Ellison: 
Where was that found? 
 
Jeanette Belz: 
That is found in section 21, subsection 6, paragraph (r).  If you look at the amendment 
I brought forward, you will find it in the green language in the middle. 
 
Assemblyman Ellison: 
I do not have that amendment. 
 
Jeanette Belz: 
I submitted this yesterday.  There are copies at the door.  I would be happy to get you one. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
It can be found on NELIS.   
 
Assemblyman Ellison:  
Thank you. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Were there any stakeholders who are addressing any of the issues regarding the 
amendments? 
 
Jeanette Belz: 
I am not aware of any. 
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Senator Farley: 
Folks who are representing the National Football League's Raiders do not want any part 
of S.B. 1 of the 30th Special Session looked at, but this has nothing to do with the Raiders.  
It is cleaning up some of the amending that was done to S.B. 1 of the 30th Special Session.  
I do not know if they are here to express opposition or if they are working with us going 
forward. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
If they have concerns, now would be a good time to speak up.  Is anyone available for that?  
[There was no one.]  It is a bit awkward when there are stakeholders who are not present.   
 
Senator Farley: 
I think the amendment is clear—it is for the advancement of small businesses.  It is already 
a part of the convention and stadium, and UNLV language from the special session.  It does 
nothing more than make sure that we are putting education and products in the hands of small 
businesses so that they can work on these jobs and, hopefully, become big businesses. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Now that we have amendments, are there any concerns?  [There were none.]  If there are 
concerns, they can be addressed offline.  Let us try to work together.  The last thing we want 
to do is blow up the bill in the few weeks we have left in this session.  I think we all agree 
that this is something that could be beneficial.  Are there any closing remarks? 
 
Senator Manendo: 
We will continue discussion because it has come to my attention that there are some 
concerns.  We want to see if we can address those concerns.  We appreciate a bit of leeway 
and time to do that. 
 
Chairman Carrillo: 
We will close the hearing on Senate Bill 448 (R1) and open the hearing on Senate Bill 452 
(1st Reprint). 
 
Senate Bill 452 (1st Reprint):  Revises provisions governing certificates of title for 

vehicles. (BDR 43-1067) 
 
Senator Tick Segerblom, Senate District No. 3: 
I brought this bill on behalf of the Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada and the Self Help 
Center of the Second Judicial District Court in Washoe County, trying to clear up car titles 
in certain instances.  It has become a complicated process.  I would like to introduce 
the amendment (Exhibit I) and have the people in Las Vegas introduce the bill. 
 
Sophia Romero, Consumer Rights Project, Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada: 
Section 1 of the bill states that if someone is attempting to transfer title to his or her name but 
lacks the necessary documents under the current Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) 
requirements, he or she would be able to do so after posting a bond, submitting the vehicle to 
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a vehicle identification number (VIN) inspection, and having the DMV run the VIN through 
the National Crime Information Center and National Motor Vehicle Title Information System 
databases.   
 
Section 1, subsection 2 allows anyone who later comes forward—within the next 
three years—and shows that they had a superior title to that vehicle, to recover under the 
bond.  The bond amount is set at one and a half times the value of the vehicle, which is set 
forth in subsection 3.  Section 1, subsection 4 adds language the DMV requested, saying that 
the DMV is not liable for issuing the title to the person named on the title.  Subsection 5 
allows for somebody seeking title to participate in the electronic titling system under Nevada 
Revised Statutes (NRS) 482.4285.  Subsection 6 applies to salvage titles and sets forth the 
same procedures as subsection 1 as applies to a clean title.   
 
That is a brief overview of the bill.  If anyone has any questions or wants me to go into 
greater depth, I would be happy to do that.  I also submitted written comments (Exhibit J) 
about why we at Legal Aid see a need for this.  We believe the current process is we must 
sue everyone on the title—every person named on it and the DMV.  Most of the time, it is 
hard because people who have signed off on the title previously cannot be found, so they 
have to be served by publication.  This is extremely hard for pro se clients to do.  At the 
Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada, we attempt to help people with this process.  We end 
up paying the fees and costs associated with the service by publication for our clients are who 
buying low-value vehicles, often off Craigslist.  We help them attempt to obtain clean titles 
for them.  Basically, what we are doing with this bill is trying to streamline the process by 
requiring bonds in order to obtain title, rather than having to bring a lawsuit. 
 
Chairman Carrillo: 
Are there any questions from Committee members? 
 
Assemblyman Sprinkle: 
If a person petitions for a new title by taking a bond, how does that prevent getting a clean 
title for a car that was salvaged?  Would that show up in a VIN check? 
 
Sophia Romero: 
If a vehicle is branded "salvage," it has to go through the entire process set forth in 
NRS 487.800 and NRS 487.860.  That process does not change for this.  If a title is branded 
"salvage," the car has to go through the statutory regulations of being rebuilt, inspected by 
a certified mechanic, and signed off by that mechanic who attests that the car has been rebuilt 
to industry standards and is now allowed to be on the road.  It could then be rebranded with 
a "rebuilt" title.  Cars with salvage titles cannot be registered and put on the road; a car has to 
have a rebuilt title before it can be driven on Nevada roads again. 
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Assemblyman Sprinkle:  
Is the bill saying that—for whatever reason—someone is unable to obtain a title, so he or she 
is now petitioning the DMV to get a new title and guaranteeing it by taking out a bond?  
If there is no way to track the previous title, how do we know if the previous title was 
a rebuilt title?  Could a person get a clean title for that car?   
 
Sophia Romero: 
The title would still be on record with the DMV.  I will give you an example of how this 
works.  A client buys a car from Craigslist and either has the title or a bill of sale.  The cars 
are low-dollar cars; the buyers are not very sophisticated.  Sometimes the bill of sale is a note 
saying, "I, so-and-so, sold a car for $2,500 to X."  It is not sufficient under DMV rules to 
obtain title in the new owner's name.  Sometimes someone will have bought a car and has 
a title, but the title was not signed off correctly—the seller did not sign in the appropriate 
box—or the bill of sale did not meet DMV standards.  This bill would allow such a person to 
post a bond and get a title in his or her name.  This applies to clean titles and salvage titles 
alike.  A buyer would go through the same process for a salvage title.  The DMV has on 
record that the vehicle had a salvage title, so a clean title would not be issued. 
 
Assemblyman Sprinkle:  
That very last bit cleared it up for me.  Section 1, subsection 2 talks about taking action 
against a bond.  What is the process for doing that?  Who will be responsible for legal 
expenses associated with taking action against a bond? 
 
Sophia Romero: 
The DMV has the bond on file.  If someone comes in saying he or she had superior title, the 
DMV would be able to assess that and direct the bond company to pay the person out.   
 
Assemblyman Sprinkle:  
So, it would not require a legal proceeding. 
 
Sophia Romero: 
No, it would not. 
 
Assemblyman Wheeler:  
Could you clear something up for me?  In section 1, subsection 5 that allows use of the 
Electronic Lien and Title (ELT) system.  I thought we put that in back in 2013.  Then I see 
a huge fiscal note on the bill that looks as if the note is there because of using this system.  
Are people using this system now for other things? 
 
Sophia Romero: 
This language was requested by Mr. Draper.  He said it would give people the option of 
requesting an electronic title.  He is there in order to speak directly to this point. 
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Mike Draper, representing eDealer Services, LLC: 
Assemblyman Wheeler, you are correct.  This Committee worked very hard in 2013 to 
establish an electronic lien and titling process bill in conjunction with the DMV and the 
Senate Committee on Transportation.  That program was established.  My client, eDealer 
Services, was selected as the vendor to set the system up for the State.  The State spent about 
$600,000 to do that.  That system went into effect in 2015; however, because of some 
ambiguity in the language, what was intended by this Committee in 2013 to be a mandatory 
system has become more of a voluntary program.  To this day, about 14 percent of Nevadans 
are participating in the program.  This program was designed to help solve problems like the 
ones Ms. Romero and Senator Segerblom are trying to solve here, in that it would be 
a clearinghouse for information, particularly titles that have liens on them, and all lien 
information.  We would be able to access very quickly most of the data that goes through the 
state and head off a lot of the issues that are occurring.   
 
Assemblyman Wheeler:  
You said something interesting, that it is more of a voluntary system.  I was here in 2013 
when we voted on this—I thought this was supposed to be a mandatory system.  Do we need 
to add some language to clear it up? 

 
Mike Draper:  
You are right about the intent in 2013.  The language in Assembly Bill 309 of the 
77th Session outlines that the system would be established, implemented in phases, and, by 
October 1, 2017, would be completely in effect.  It was intended that not all Nevada residents 
would have to participate in this.  If you wanted to get a paper title, you could still go through 
the process.  The intent was that all lienholders and banks would have to participate in this.  
Half the states in the country are participating in this program, with even more moving 
towards it right now.  In talking with the DMV, the program is set up and in service.  They 
feel there is still some ambiguity in the language in the fact that they cannot enforce 
a mandatory requirement right now.  A simple cleanup might address that problem.  Having 
worked on this bill in 2013 with this Committee, the intent was that this would be in place, 
and we would be saving time and resources for Nevada residents and the DMV. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
I do not know whether you can answer my question, or whether it would be better to ask 
DMV.  Has the ELT system been developed? 
 
Mike Draper: 
Yes, the ELT system is in place.  Fourteen percent of Nevada residents are participating in it.  
It is ready to do what it was intended to do and serve 100 percent of the lienholders in the 
state.  All the title information goes through that system, so if you are making even a private 
party to private party vehicle sale and cannot find the title, you will be able to quickly access 
your title information.  That should head off a lot of the issues that Ms. Romero addressed.  
This system is set up today to handle all sorts of titles, including salvage titles.  It should also 
be able to help alleviate some of those problems. 
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Chairman Carrillo:  
Do we need clarifying language?  In 2013 we made it mandatory, effective upon passage and 
approval.  Would a representative from DMV like to come up and speak on any part of the 
ELT system?  Even though we are going back two sessions, this ties to a lot of the issues we 
are addressing in S.B. 452 (1st Reprint). 
 
Sean P. McDonald, Administrator, Division of Central Services and Records, 

Department of Motor Vehicles: 
To shed a little light, the ELT system is set up.  The 14 percent usage sounds accurate.  
We are ready to go, but there is a bit of a compliance component that we are lacking.  There 
is nothing that mandates that somebody use that system.  The DMV side of things is set up 
and ready to go. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Is there a reason only 14 percent are using it?  Do many Nevadans not realize it is available? 
 
Sean McDonald: 
The 14 percent sounds accurate, but I would have run those figures based on our numbers.  
Some Nevadans may not be aware of the system, but there is also the compliance component.  
There is nothing in statute that mandates the system's use.  Based on the legislation that was 
passed, we set up a robust system that is ready to go; it is just a case of getting everybody on 
board. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
I am sure you have had a chance to look at S.B. 452 (R1).  Do you think the ELT system 
would be beneficial? 
 
Sean McDonald: 
I see how it would blend in with all the other titling components we have and handle as the 
DMV.  It would certainly have a place there. 
 
Assemblyman Ellison:  
How much money was expended on the ELT system?  What is it going to take to get it up to 
where people are using it? 
 
Mike Draper: 
The DMV put out a request for proposal (RFP) for the system in 2014.  I would like to clarify 
why this system is central to this discussion.  When we worked on this in 2013, the program 
was intended to help solve some of the issues that S.B. 452 (R1) is trying to address.  
The DMV put out the RFP in 2014.  My client, eDealer Services, was selected to build that 
program.  The bill that was passed, A.B. 309 of the 77th Session, specifically outlined that 
the state would not spend any money on this program.  As a result, my client spent $600,000 
on it.  The program is finished; it went into effect in 2015.  The intent in 2013 was that all 
lienholders in Nevada would be participating in the program.  In talking with the DMV over 
the last several months, they feel as if the bill that was passed in 2013 lacks sufficient 
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language to address compliance.  There would be no need for additional dollars; the program 
is already set.  In order to see the full benefits to support the DMV's position, we need some 
simple clarifying language to add a compliance component for lienholders.  Interestingly 
enough, across the country, banks and lienholders have been supportive of this program, so 
there is support to do this.  It could have an impact in creating a good piece of policy.  I think 
everyone is willing to do that if this Committee desires to add some clarifying language to 
support the DMV's position. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Ms. Romero, I know you wanted Mr. Draper to discuss a little bit more about the ELT part, 
which we have done.  Is there anything the sponsors want to add?  [There was nothing.]   
 
I have a question for Ms. Romero.  When you talk about vehicles, are you only talking about 
cars, or are you including motorcycles? 
 
Sophia Romero: 
The definition of "vehicle" under NRS included motorcycles, but I would have to 
double-check on that. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Are motorcycles considered vehicles?  Someone might sell a motorcycle that was a gift or 
purchased at an estate sale.  In those cases, the new owner might not have a title.   
 
Sean McDonald: 
You hit it spot-on.  Motorcycles would be included. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
What about a classic car purchased as a barn find somewhere in northern Nevada?  Maybe 
the owner passed away and the person who bought the farm did not have the car title. 
 
Sean McDonald: 
Correct.  That was one of the pieces we discussed in the initial hearing—classic vehicles, 
valuations, and how they would be handled.  Under the provisions of S.B. 452 (R1) there 
would be a way to get a bonded title.  The bond itself lasts for three years, at which time 
it would be converted to a regular title.  With the bonded title, we would have a separate type 
of title as an identifier for the first three years, then we would convert it a regular title.   
 
I would like to quickly address Assemblyman Wheeler's question about the fiscal note.  
The fiscal note is revenue, not an expense.  It would actually generate revenue based on the 
fact that we would be issuing more titles.  It is contrary to what you normally see. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Are there any other questions?  [There were none.]  We will take testimony in support of 
S.B. 452 (R1). 
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Emily B. Reed, Program Manager, Self Help Center and Law Library, Second Judicial 

District Court:  
I am here today in support of S.B. 452 (R1).  I do not want to go over too much of 
Ms. Romero's testimony; however, in the past year we had over 250 members of the 
community come in regarding issues related to vehicle titles.  Most had purchased vehicles 
off Craigslist and did not get the appropriate documentation.  I had a call last week from 
someone who had title and a bill of sale, but it was not in a form acceptable to the DMV; so 
they contacted the previous title owner to see if that could be remedied.  If not, it will require 
a trip down to the District Court in order to obtain vehicle title.  District Court cases cost 
$250 to file.  Publication for service in a newspaper costs up to $400.  This particular vehicle 
was purchased for under $500.  That is a lot of additional money for people to pay to title 
vehicles that do not have a high value.  That is why we are here in support. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Would this eliminate the need to contact all the previous owners in all the states throughout 
the country?   
 
Emily Reed: 
We think this will provide a streamlined process for them.  The DMV will be doing a VIN 
check to make sure the vehicles have not been stolen.  This will allow vehicle purchasers to 
go ahead with titling and registering vehicles under bonded titles.  Does that answer your 
question? 
 
Chairman Carrillo: 
Yes.  Thank you.  Is there anyone else in support of S.B. 452 (R1)?  [There was no one.]  
Is there opposition?  [There was none.]  Is there anyone neutral? 
 
Sean McDonald: 
I want to go on record to say that DMV is neutral on the bill.  We had some concerns in the 
beginning.  We have been working with the bill's proponents and the bill's sponsor in order to 
curtail some of those.  The additional language in some of the amendments has helped.   
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Are there any questions for Mr. McDonald?  [There were none.]  Is there anyone else 
neutral? 
 
Andy MacKay, Executive Director, Nevada Franchised Auto Dealers Association: 
We are neutral on this bill.  Many of our concerns were addressed in the Senate, such as the 
potential for title washing.  Although we are not in favor of the bill, we are not opposed. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
I do not see anyone with questions.  Are there any closing remarks? 
 



Assembly Committee on Transportation 
May 9, 2017 
Page 29 
 
Senator Segerblom: 
I will file this under "no good deed goes unpunished."  They came to me with what seemed 
like a simple idea and, as you can see, there is nothing simple in life.  
 
Chairman Carrillo: 
We will close the hearing on Senate Bill 452 (R1).   
 
[(Exhibit K) was submitted but not discussed and will become part of the record.] 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
We will now open the hearing on Senate Bill 308 (1st Reprint). 
 
Senate Bill 308 (1st Reprint):  Revises provisions relating to motor vehicle insurance. 

(BDR 43-938) 
 
Senator Becky Harris, Senate District No. 9: 
In 1958, when Nevada established its mandatory automobile insurance minimums at 
$15,000/$30,000/$10,000, it led the nation.  At that time, a brand new 1957 Chevrolet cost 
a mere $3,100.  The bill before you today proposes that we increase the minimum coverage 
to 25/50/20.  I believe Senate Bill 308 (1st Reprint) is an insurance reform bill and is really 
about economic equity and fairness.   
 
When someone is involved in a car crash and the driver has 15/30/10 limits, if the crash is 
more than a fender-bender, the innocent driver is at risk of not receiving enough money from 
insurance to pay for damage to the car and to his or her health.  What could be worse than 
being injured in a car crash?  Not having enough money to fix your car, potentially putting 
your employment at risk, dealing with medical bills that you may have to pay out-of-pocket, 
and not being able to get your children to school, take care of your family, or any of the other 
things you need transportation for.  This bill provides a safety net for 31 percent of Nevadans 
who currently maintain a minimum coverage on their vehicles.  Nevadans can obtain an extra 
$10,000 of bodily injury coverage per person, $20,000 of bodily injury coverage per 
accident, and an extra $10,000 of property damage coverage that could be used for vehicle 
repair, wage replacement, and payment of medical expenses.   
 
You may hear testimony today about concerns that the number of uninsured motorists may 
increase if this bill passes.  To allay those concerns, I would point you to a 2012 study by the 
Insurance Information Institute that found the state with highest statutory minimum limits has 
the second-fewest uninsured drivers.  You heard that correctly—the state with the highest 
statutory minimum limits has the second-fewest uninsured drivers.  Maine, with just 
4.7 percent uninsured, has the nation's highest limits—50/100/25, significantly higher than 
Nevada's.  Further, states with the lowest auto insurance premiums do not have the fewest 
number of uninsured drivers on the road.  In 2006 a study was done of North Dakota and 
Iowa who, at the time, had the lowest auto premiums of any state.  According to the Ohio 
Insurance Institute's report entitled "US Auto Insurance Expenditures," North Dakota had 
an estimated 9.1 percent uninsured drivers, and Iowa had 11.5 percent uninsured drivers.   

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033K.pdf
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5284/Overview/
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About 30 percent of Nevada's insureds currently have the state minimum coverage of 
15/30/10 (Exhibit L).  They are the only insureds who will be impacted by this bill.  
The majority of Nevada's policyholders will not be impacted by the insurance modernization 
proposed by this bill.  I wanted to point your attention to one of the handouts that was 
provided to you by one of the insurance companies in anticipation of this hearing.  
On Nevada Electronic Legislative Information System (NELIS) there should be two maps.  
The first map (Exhibit M) is titled "Vehicle Accidents on the Rise."  The second map 
(Exhibit N) is a color graphic of insurance rates throughout the nation.  I would like to point 
out that at least five of the states that have vehicle accidents on the rise also have the lowest 
insurance coverages in the nation.  I think that highlights why this bill is necessary.   
 
As the cost of vehicles continues to increase, and it has been several decades since Nevada 
has seen an increase in insurance limits, we are getting to a place where we are going to be 
pricing out of the market individuals' abilities to get the necessary repairs done to their 
vehicles and receive the medical coverage they need to heal.   
 
Mark C. Wenzel, representing Nevada Justice Association: 
I will not go over what Senator Harris has already testified to, but will explain what these 
numbers mean for the members of the Committee who are not conversant in insurance and 
law jargon.  As Senator Harris explained, right now the state of Nevada has the 
second-lowest insurance policy limits for motor vehicles in the entire country.  The limits are 
$15,000 per person, $30,000 per occurrence, and $10,000 for property damage.  That 
$15,000, which we hope to have changed to $25,000, must fully compensate you for all of 
your hospital expenses, wage loss, and pain and suffering damages following a motor vehicle 
accident.  $15,000 is the per person limit. 
 
The per occurrence limit covers multiple people in one vehicle who might be injured by an 
at-fault driver.  If there are five of you the at-fault driver hurts, all five have to have all their 
medical expenses paid.  If multiple people work, all their other damages for wage loss and 
the like must be paid out of that $30,000.   
 
The last limit is the simplest to understand—$10,000 for property damage.  I believe the 
average price of a car is approaching $30,000.  It does not take much damage to reach 
the $10,000 limit.  Right now, that is what is mandated by statute.   
 
The question that arose when we have discussed this with several Committee members here 
and in the Senate was, Why does this make good public policy for Nevadans?  The answer to 
that is that if you break something, it is your responsibility to fix it.  Right now the 15/30/10 
limits do not make the person who broke something or injured someone fully responsible.  
The reason for that is, quite frankly, times have changed since 1958.  The medical expenses 
have gone up exponentially since that time.  Back then, you could get in and out of the 
emergency room for well under $1,000.  Right now, from what I see in my practice, you 
cannot get out of an emergency room after a motor vehicle accident for less than what most  
  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033L.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033M.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033N.pdf
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of you will be able to collect from the adverse driver.  In fact, many times the emergency 
room bill alone—not counting any other medical expenses, wage loss, or any other items of 
damage—would exceed the per person policy limit of $15,000.   
 
So, medical expenses have gone up since 1958 when this statute went into effect.  Wages 
have also gone up since 1958.  That is another component of damage.  Perhaps one that we 
can all appreciate more, the cost of the vehicles we all drive around has certainly gone up 
significantly since 1958, when this statute was passed and enacted.  The average cost of 
a vehicle in 1958 was $2,500.  Right now, the average cost of a vehicle approaches $30,000.  
When people come in to see me, they ask what they are supposed to do when their medical 
bills alone are in excess of $15,000 and the damage to the car is $12,000 or $14,000 or even 
$15,000 dollars.  Those people are, unfortunately, caught in the situation we are now 
attempting to modernize with the policy limits increase.  We lag far and away behind many 
other states.  I believe there are only five or six other states in the country that have 15/30/10 
limits.  All the rest have gone up to at least 25/50/20, as we are proposing.   
 
What is the cost of this from a financial perspective?  We have encountered questions about 
what will happen to premiums.  Since we have not changed limits since 1958, we cannot 
answer the question.  We have studied this, since those who oppose it do not want to see their 
rates go up.  If we were to change our limits right now from 15/30/10 to 25/50/20 as 
proposed, insurance rates will only go up a couple of dollars per month.  For the additional 
afforded protections, it is certainly more than well worth the additional expenditure of a 
couple of dollars per month that we would experience.   
 
I greatly appreciate that there are some people who would struggle to pay even $2 to $3 per 
month extra, but those people are the ones who can ill-afford to be in an accident with 
someone who is inadequately insured.  Those are the people who will benefit from this, 
perhaps more so than people who have additional insurance coverages or additional funds to 
pay for their medical expenses or property damages.  That is one source we went to when we 
looked at how much insurance premiums would go up.  We do not know definitively because 
this has not happened in 50-plus years.   
 
We have gone to different insurance agents, and we have plugged this information into 
online insurance sources.  We compared the numbers between one who carried 15/30/20 
limits to one carrying 25/50/20.  The difference in premiums was only a few dollars per 
month.   
 
In the past ten years, there have been eight or nine states that have increased policy limits 
from 15/30/10 to 25/50/20.  We looked at what happened with insurance premiums in those 
states.  Similar to what we found when we plugged the numbers into the online sources, those 
states saw increases of 2 percent to 2.4 percent.  We appreciate there will be additional cost, 
but it protects those people who need it most—people who need to keep their cars on the 
road to get to work, people who do not have second vehicles, people who do not have health 
insurance to help out with the minimum limits of coverage that you would get if the person 
who hit you carried only 15/30/10 limits.   
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For those reasons, we believe this is strong public policy.  I have been doing this for well 
over 20 years.  Quite frankly, it is about time that we raise these limits.  I would be happy to 
answer any questions you, Mr. Chairman, or members of your Committee might have. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Are there questions from Committee members? 
 
Assemblyman Wheeler: 
As you can probably imagine, I have had quite a few visitors in my office, people on both 
sides of this issue.  I hear from you that insurance rates will go up a few dollars a month.  
From the other side, I am hearing that rates will go up $800 to $1,000 a year.  Is there 
an independent study—not from someone who is going to work on commission like yourself 
or other attorneys or an insurance company—that could tell us exactly what the premiums 
would be?  I called my insurance agent.  My policy is already at the new minimums this bill 
proposes, so I asked my agent what would happen to my rates if I took my limits down to the 
minimum that the state now requires.  I cannot do this because my vehicle and I are worth 
more than the current minimums, but my savings would be about $450 a year.  That is not 
just a couple of dollars a month.  Where can we get some actual numbers to find out what 
the premiums would be? 
 
Senator Harris: 
I would be happy to provide the materials I am using.  I cannot give you Nevada-specific 
numbers, but I can give you what has happened in other states.  Recognizing that not every 
state insures the same way, we will extrapolate the best that we can.  In 2008, Alabama 
changed their insurance policy limits from 20/40/10 to 25/50/25.  The average insurance 
policy in Alabama was $354.14 in 2008; nationwide, it was $471.09.  In 2009, the average 
insurance in Alabama went down, to $352.39 while the rest of the nation's went up to 
$475.12. 
 
In Louisiana, their insurance increased.  In 2009, they changed from 10/20/10 to 15/30/25.  
That year, their average policy was $651.49, with a nationwide comparable policy 
at $475.12.  In 2010, their insurance went up to $684.89, while nationally there was also 
an increase to $484.37.  Louisiana's increased by $30, about $15 or $20 more than the rest of 
the nation. 
 
Maryland increased insurance limits in 2010, from 20/40/15 to 30/60/15.  Their insurance 
was higher than the rest of the nation before they raised their limits.  Their average policy 
was $578.85; a comparable policy nationwide was $484.37.  In 2011, the average rate in 
Maryland went up $12, to $590.02; nationally, the average went up $8, to $492.63. 
 
I have data from more states.  I am happy to make this available to the Committee.  
The source is the Auto Insurance Database Report put out by the National Association of 
Insurance Commissioners.  It was not prepared with any bias I am aware of.  I think they are 
factually reporting the numbers.  We are seeing increases, but they are not dramatic 
increases, in states that have raised their minimums recently.  Some raised their limits in 
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2009, some in 2013.  The report gives us a historical perspective.  What I am not reading to 
you are numbers from 2010 through 2013.  You can see the increase over a number of years 
in a state's policy as it compares to the national average.  That is the best information I can 
provide to you because we do not have the information available for Nevada. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Are there questions from any other Committee members?  [There were none.]  Mr. Wenzel, 
how did you arrive at the estimates for the premium increases?  What methodology did 
you use? 
 
Mark Wenzel: 
We looked at two different things.  First, there are a host of variables, such as driving history 
and where a driver lives.  When Senator Harris and I first discussed collaborating on this bill, 
I looked at some areas in northern Nevada—Sparks, Reno, and Carson City.  Then we looked 
at areas down in Las Vegas.  We tried to use the same fictitious family—a husband and wife 
with no significant adverse driving history.  We used that couple with the same level of 
education as the model people throughout the state when we plugged in requests for quotes 
using online sites where you can purchase insurance.  We compared purchasing insurance for 
15/30/10 limits for the same couple with the same facts purchasing 25/50/20.  Insurance 
companies' rates varied.  Some of them went up $2 to $4 a month, and some went up $11 to 
$12 a month with the example we were using.   
 
The second methodology we looked at is what happened in the states that have changed their 
limits most recently, increasing their limits in amounts similar to what we are trying to do.  
Even though that information is different than Nevada, which has never raised the limits, 
those are the most recent examples of what happens in the real world in the last ten years for 
the states that have changed their insurance policy limits.   
 
We looked at both of those things.  We looked throughout the state using constant variables 
of people in different areas.  Then we looked at what transpired historically in other states 
when a change such as the one we are proposing in S.B. 308 (R1) went into effect. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
It sounds as if the data is a case-by-case estimate.  What would you say the average premium 
increase would be for insureds who are currently at the minimum limits if they were 
increased to the limits proposed in this bill? 
 
Mark Wenzel: 
The average would be somewhere from $2 to $4 on the low side, to $11 to $12 dollars 
towards the median.  I did not see any that went up over $20 per month for the variables we 
were using—husband and wife, married, no children of driving age, and insuring one vehicle. 
 
Senator Harris: 
To the extent that it is helpful, the two states that are closest to Nevada are Ohio and 
South Carolina.  Ohio changed limits in 2013.  Theirs had been a 12.5/25/7.5 policy limit and 
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it was raised to 25/50/25, which is a little higher than what we are proposing.  They had an 
average liability premium of $374.53 while the nationwide average for that type of policy 
was $518.49.  In 2006, South Carolina changed theirs from 15/30/10 to 25/50/25.  Their state 
average policy was $470.90 and nationwide, it was $488.63.  In 2007, they saw a $4.04 
increase to $474.95.  Nationwide, the policy average decreased to $475.73.   
 
Chairman Carrillo: 
If you could make that information available to the Committee, that would be great.  I would 
like to bring one thing up that is similar to what Assemblyman Wheeler said.  I called my 
insurance company and found out that I was already at 25/50/25 policy limits.  I had to go 
backwards with my rates for a comparison.  The difference for my policy would be $50 per 
month on the vehicles I currently own and have registered and insured.  I would save $728 
a year.  Not everyone insures three vehicles, but the savings per vehicle would be around $20 
a month.  My vehicles are not brand new—I do not have anything newer than a 2006 model.  
How do you think a $20 a month increase in insurance rates would affect someone on a fixed 
income or a low-wage earner?  A low-wage earner might only have one vehicle, perhaps 
the spouse or significant other might share their sole transportation.  Those on fixed incomes 
are the ones who would be affected. 
 
One other thing I noticed on my insurance policy is that I carry uninsured and underinsured 
motorist coverage on each vehicle.  If anyone hits me or I hit someone, it sounds as if I am 
pretty well taken care of.  I am only speaking for myself.  Carrying uninsured or 
underinsured coverage is not mandated.  The Division of Insurance (DOI), Department of 
Business and Industry, provided me with a chart that shows roughly 83 percent of Nevadans 
have uninsured or underinsured motorist coverage (Exhibit L).  One other thing I found out is 
that my insurance is considered premium insurance.  I have to be with this insurance 
company for at least three years before they will accept me as a premium purchaser of 
insurance.  Before that, I was paying a higher rate.  The companies that advertise on 
television, on Facebook, or out on the street will pretty much be taken out of the market.  If 
people go to an insurance company like mine, their rates will be higher as new clients.  What 
happens to them?  We are not comparing apples to apples here, we are comparing apples to 
oranges. 
 
Mark Wenzel: 
I identified three different topic areas you brought up.  I will take those in turn.  First, you 
identified people on fixed incomes—what will happen to them?  We are very mindful of 
people who right now struggle on a daily, weekly, and monthly basis just to pay their 
insurance.  This increase from 15/30/10 to 25/50/20 benefits that classification of people 
even though the rate increase might be $15 to $20 per month per vehicle, which equates to 
$.50 to $1 per day extra.   
 
Let me explain how this benefits those people.  The individuals you are talking about are 
people of lower socioeconomic status on fixed incomes.  Some of them do not have health 
insurance or another type of insurance called medical payments (MedPay) coverage.  If you 
are in an accident, your MedPay coverage would help pay your medical expenses. 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033L.pdf
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Chairman Carrillo:  
If I may interrupt, when you talk about medical insurance, should there be anyone without 
medical insurance right now? 
 
Mark Wenzel: 
No, there should not, but in my practice I still see people without medical insurance.  People 
should not be without health insurance, but the reality is that many people still are.  Those 
people who do not have health insurance or have health insurance with high copayments and 
high deductibles need higher limits when someone else hurts them, more so than someone 
like me who has been blessed and has good health insurance or carries MedPay coverage on 
the automobile insurance policy.  Those on fixed incomes—people without adequate or any 
health insurance, or health insurance with high deductibles and high copayments—are the 
ones who need the additional coverage when somebody injures them.  It is not just that they 
will be paying an additional $15 or $20 dollars a month.  Those are the people who can ill 
afford to not be adequately compensated by the person who injured them.   
 
We have to look at it from both perspectives.  Yes, it may cost low- or fixed-income 
policyholders a few extra dollars, but as long as the person who injuries them carries the 
proposed new limits, those people will have an additional $10,000 to pay for medical 
expenses, time off work, and other items of damage.  If we raise the property damage limit, 
the ones who injure people on fixed incomes will be required to actually fix the injured's car.  
An insurance company could no longer say they only have to pay $10,000 because the person 
who hit them had a minimum policy limit and has no assets to recover.  With the current 
$10,000 limit, your repair bill for $15,000 or $18,000 would not be paid.  Each one of us is 
wise enough to realize that $10,000 in property damage does not require a lot of impact to 
cause that amount of damage.  Those on fixed incomes are the ones that really do need this.  
 
You also mentioned something about having underinsured motorist coverage.  If you carry 
underinsured motorist coverage and the person that caused the accident is not adequately 
insured, your own auto insurance would sit on top of the coverage the at-fault driver had.  
In theory, if you have $15,000, which the limit is right now, and your damages for medical 
expenses and time off work exceeds the $15,000 and approaches $25,000, you, 
Mr. Chairman, would have to turn to your own insurance company to collect the difference.  
You have been paying premiums on that.  If we raise the limits to make the person who 
causes injuries to another responsible, and the insurance pays up to $25,000, you would not 
have to go back to your own auto insurance company to collect.  Theoretically, if you are not 
making claims against your own auto policy, your underinsured motorist coverage rates 
should go down because it would reduce the number of underinsured motorist coverage 
claims out there.  
 
The last point you made was about the different auto insurance companies doing business.  
You wanted to know what the effect on the marketplace will be.  When Senator Harris and 
I were crunching these numbers, going through the different areas of the state to see what 
these increases would mean, we saw some differences.  I would hope that if you are in 
the process of purchasing insurance and you go from a 15/30/10 policy to a 25/50/20 policy, 
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you shop for rates.  Competition says that with all other factors being equal, you will 
purchase insurance from the company that charges you a lower premium.  There are over 
100 auto insurance companies in the state right now.  Hopefully, each one will help push 
costs down so that the rates are not raised dramatically on people of fixed incomes or people 
of lower socioeconomic status. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Do all persons involved in crashes seek the services of an attorney to resolve their claims? 
 
Mark Wenzel: 
No.  In fact, I would say the vast majority of those who call an attorney following a motor 
vehicle accident seek advice but do not retain attorney services.  Most do not even contact 
an attorney or, if they do, the attorney may simply give advice over the phone.  If they have 
more questions or their case is trickier than just contacting their own insurance and 
the insurance of the adverse party to wrap things up fairly simply, perhaps we would have 
them come to our office and sign them up as clients.  In my practice of doing this for 
22 years, the vast majority of people are able to resolve things without even calling 
an attorney, or they can resolve things after getting some advice from an attorney without 
retaining his or her services. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
If injured parties do not retain an attorney, are their claims paid by the insurance companies, 
and they go on their merry ways? 
 
Mark Wenzel: 
That is what I presume would happen. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Do you have any idea of the percentage of crashes in Nevada that would be considered minor 
fender-benders, and do not reach the policy limits? 
 
Mark Wenzel: 
I am not aware of those numbers. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Is that information you could possibly get for us? 
 
Mark Wenzel: 
If it is important to you, I will try.  I will ask my colleagues and Mr. Compan and the auto 
insurance people who may, perhaps, have that data. 
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Chairman Carrillo:  
You mentioned that there is no way to get around premium increases.  Do you have recent or 
current figures for what the uninsured rate is in Nevada?  Do you have an estimate of how 
many drivers will choose to drop their insurance?  Approximately 32 percent have low policy 
limits. 
 
Senator Harris: 
Based on data from the Division of Insurance, this bill would affect about 31 to 33 percent of 
Nevadans.  About a third of Nevadans carry the minimum policy limits.  I certainly have not 
talked with every one of those insureds, but I have been shocked to find out how many of my 
neighbors and associates have not even considered that they might need more insurance than 
the minimum.  They are in an economic income level in which it is not a hardship for them to 
pay more insurance.  In fact, many of them have since increased their policy limits, realizing 
they may have left themselves unprotected.  We want to be respectful of those who struggle 
to make ends meet, being mindful of these low-income people.  I would like the Committee 
to keep in mind what you are getting from this bill.  I think we have been talking as if we 
would pay more and get no benefit.  In the event you are in a car accident, you are getting 
$10,000 additional dollars for bodily injury, $20,000 extra dollars for bodily injury per 
accident, and $10,000 more in property damage.  If you found yourself in the unfortunate 
circumstance of being a driver that injures somebody, that increase in premium is actually 
going to pay out large dividends to the extent that someone is damaged and you are able to 
provide them with the necessary coverage to repair the damage that has been caused.  
Insurance is a hard thing, because we pay it and hope that we never need it.  If you do need it, 
there is peace of mind in knowing that you are able to cover the damage and not be at risk for 
additional lawsuits for full recovery.   
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
If you have drivers who decide they cannot afford the increase and drop coverage, you are 
looking at an uninsured driver.  How do you think that would impact the industry?  If you do 
not have insurance in effect, DMV knows that right away through their Nevada LIVE 
program.  If your insurance is dropped, they know it.  People still need to go to work and 
may take chances by driving without insurance.  Would your uninsured motorist coverage be 
enough? 
 
Mark Wenzel: 
We do not know for certain because this has not transpired in the state of Nevada in the last 
58 years.  What we have done in this situation is look at what has happened in other states 
when minimum policy limits were increased.  Did this cause a precipitous increase in 
the number of uninsured drivers, or did that number remain steady?  Out of the eight states 
that we looked at, only one state showed an increase of greater than 1 percent in the 
uninsured motorist population.  The other states showed virtually no increase.  In fact, one or 
two states showed that the uninsured population actually dropped after the policy limits were 
increased.  We are mindful of the fact this may cost several dollars extra for people.  I would 
hope that would not be a reason for someone to decide to break the law for $15 or $20 per 
month by not carrying insurance on a vehicle.   
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I find one thing you pointed out interesting.  Based upon the statistics we know, over 
80 percent of Nevadans carry uninsured or underinsured motorist coverage at some level.  
That coverage would be applied in a case when someone who decided not to pay for 
insurance anymore caused a wreck.  Over 80 percent of drivers have the 
uninsured/underinsured coverage, so policyholders would have to be aware that they do have 
a claim with their own insurance company.  Your own insurance would step into the shoes of 
the at-fault driver. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
I do not see any other Committee members wanting to ask questions.  Is there anyone in 
support of S.B. 308 (R1)?  [There was no one.]  Is there opposition? 
 
Jeanette Belz, representing Property Casualty Insurers Association of America: 
It has been a long day, and I promise to be brief.  I will just hit some highlights.  
I appreciated Mr. Wenzel's comments about modernization having costs.  He is absolutely 
correct.  Modernization will have costs.  This is truly a policy question that is laid at 
your feet.   
 
There are lots of reasons why insurance rates are different in different states.  I will use 
myself as an example.  When I first moved here from upstate New York, I had the same car.  
I thought it would be great because there would not be snow here, it would be sunny most of 
the time, so I thought my insurance rates would go down.  My insurance rates doubled.  
When I inquired about why that was, I was told it was because I was moving to a 24/7 town 
so there is a lot more exposure here than there was in upstate New York.   
 
I appreciate Assemblyman Wheeler's request for data from an independent source.  I think 
that would be helpful.  I have data that was submitted to the Senate Committee on 
Transportation by the Division of Insurance (Exhibit L), which is the keeper of lots of data 
about auto insurance.  I would like to bring a couple of things from their data to your 
attention.  Senator Harris mentioned that about 32 percent of Nevadans are currently at the 
minimum policy limits, so those insurance rates will go up for 32 percent of Nevada drivers.  
I beg to differ with Senator Harris a bit, though.  If you turn to the page 2, you will see 
a chart of current uninsured and underinsured drivers coverage.  According to the Division 
of Insurance, those rates will go up because that coverage is also based on different limits.  
As a result, the 29 percent of drivers that currently have the lowest limits will see their 
premiums go up as well.   
 
On page 3 of the Division of Insurance's data, according to them, the estimated increases in 
bodily injury insurance cost will go up between 8 and 50 percent, depending on the company.  
Property damage insurance cost will go up between 3 and 40 percent, affecting 32 percent of 
Nevadans.  Regarding the uninsured motorist and underinsured motorist coverage, 
the estimated increase is 30 to 50 percent, affecting approximately 29 percent of Nevada 
policies. 
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I believe the increases can be significant.  The Division of Insurance gave examples from 
seven different insurers on base rates [page 4, (Exhibit L)].  According to their own footnote, 
the actual premium is expected to be higher than what the chart shows, because it shows base 
rates only.  They go to a high of $178 for six months just for liability insurance for insurer 1.   
 
There are costs that have to be weighed when this decision is made.  In some data that 
Property Casualty Insurers Association looked at, there is a positive correlation between 
liability premiums and the rate of uninsured drivers.  Based on 2014 data, Nevada was 
twenty-third in the nation for uninsured drivers.  The fear is that would be pushed up. 
 
Historical data also shows that the average bodily injury claim in 2012 was under the current 
statutory limits.  Our premiums are high in Nevada—according to a 2014 National 
Association of Mutual Insurance Companies report, Nevada had the eighth-highest average 
liability premiums.   
 
Others states have been looking at raising limits.  There was a recent effort in Pennsylvania 
that was not successful.  In their state, they did a data call of insurers, and found that 
12 percent of their drivers would be impacted, not like the 32 percent we have here.  It would 
have had an impact on people in the lower economic ZIP codes in Pennsylvania.  In Arizona, 
we are also expecting that a bill introduced there will not make it through the end of their 
legislative session. 
 
The Division of Insurance published the "Consumer's Guide to Auto Insurance Rates" 
(Exhibit O) that contains a lot of information, including what is mandatory and what is 
optional coverage.  Highlighting from that publication, many insurers have started offering 
separate uninsured/underinsured property damage as well.  We also submitted a letter with 
some additional information (Exhibit P).   
 
Assemblyman Watkins:  
With the current minimum limits, property damage is at $10,000.  I heard the bill sponsor say 
that the average vehicle costs about $30,000.  I think we would all agree the average vehicle 
costs a lot more than the $10,000 coverage.  There is a mechanism by which I could protect 
myself—underinsured motorist coverage.  Is that correct?  Or, is it through comprehensive 
coverage? 
 
Jeanette Belz: 
Uninsured and underinsured motorist coverage pays if you are hit by a hit-and-run driver, a 
driver who does not have auto insurance, or a driver whose policy limits are not high enough.  
This coverage does not protect the other driver, and it does not cover damage to your vehicle; 
however, for that there is uninsured/underinsured motorist property damage coverage that is 
now available. 
 
Assemblyman Watkins:  
There is a separate level of coverage that I can get to cover myself for underinsured on 
property damage.  If the vast majority of vehicles are worth more than $10,000, and we  
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expect people to be prudent and protect themselves to the fullest extent, they now have to go 
out and get additional coverage on their own policies to protect themselves.  Dollar for 
dollar, which is more expensive—liability coverage or underinsured motorist coverage? 
 
Jeanette Belz: 
That is a great question, because 83 percent of people choose to get this coverage.  You 
actually have to sign a waiver when you reject it.  Insurance agents must be doing a really 
good job convincing people that this is a good coverage to have. 
 
Assemblyman Watkins:  
Or, our insurance minimums are too low.  You testified that 32 percent of people have the 
minimums and their rates will absolutely go up.  That would not be true if they had the 
minimums and they also had uninsured/underinsured to cover themselves in a situation that 
went beyond the minimums.  Now, if we raise the minimums to 25/50/20, they raise their 
limits and can drop their uninsured/underinsured coverage because they now feel 
comfortable that if they are hit by anybody, they will be covered.  In this case, their insurance 
premiums could actually go down. 
 
Jeanette Belz: 
The DOI would be best to answer the question.  It is unclear from the data they provided 
whether these 29 percent are the same as the 32 percent as on page 1 (Exhibit L).  There is no 
way to understand that from the data they presented.  I am not arguing that it has been 
a really long time since the limits were increased.  I am not arguing that more coverage will 
cover more.  All I am arguing is that to the extent that you all make a policy decision, there 
will be people who will pay more. 
 
Assemblyman Watkins: 
My question to you is from a policy perspective, so that we can make an informed decision.  
In my experience, when I go to a website like Esurance or talk to my insurance agent, if I go 
from $15,000 of liability coverage to $25,000, my rate will go up a certain amount.  If I add 
uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage or MedPay, dollar for dollar, my premium goes up 
a lot more than it ever does for any liability amount.  I do not know if either side 
is comparing like information.  We know that 83 percent of the people get 
uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage.  They very well might be getting that coverage 
because they are scared to death of being hit by somebody with minimum policy limits.  
Maybe they would not be so scared if the minimum policy limits actually covered 
the majority of the damages that could result.   
 
Jeanette Belz: 
I think the uninsured rate also drives people.  According to the Division of Insurance, 
between 15 and 22 percent of people opt to have no insurance coverage at all.  I think that 
is what scares them. 
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Assemblyman Ellison: 
I own 11 vehicles.  You can imagine how I will be hit by this.  I am in two different groups—
some of the vehicles are under my company policy, the others are for personal use.  
A woman driver who was texting plowed into the back of our brand new Mustang, totaling it.  
She had $10,000 in insurance.  After her insurance paid, my company's policy had to pay 
another $18,000 to $20,000.  My insurer attempted to sue the driver, but she has no assets.   
 
It seems to me insurance companies should advise drivers who carry the minimum coverage 
limits as to what could happen if they are in accidents.  I think that is an issue that needs to be 
addressed.  That was a big whack for our insurance company to have to pay that.  We had 
a bad year—we had three vehicles totaled in one year. 
 
Do drivers realize they can be held liable when underinsured?  When the Mustang was 
totaled, I went to the insurance company because I had not known that a driver with full 
coverage could have insurance that only paid out $10,000 on a totaled vehicle.  I was 
informed that was the minimum coverage that a driver could purchase.  As a result, I had my 
agent go through the policies on every one of my vehicles and raise the limits.  I do not want 
to run into somebody or have one of my employees run into somebody, and then be sued for 
the difference.  I have a company that owns several vehicles, and I own several personally.   
 
Jeanette Belz: 
Absolutely.  This is a policy decision laid at your feet.  No one wants three vehicles totaled.  
One of the challenges is that people look at insurance and determine coverage based on what 
they can afford to pay, the way car dealers rearrange information for financing so that buyers 
are comfortable with the payment.  I think people look at insurance premiums the same way, 
based on what they think they can afford.  It is allowed in Nevada.  Most insurance is sold 
through independent insurance agents. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Are there any more questions for Ms. Belz?  [There were none.] 
 
Jesse Wadhams, representing American Insurance Association: 
I appreciate Ms. Belz's speaking first.  I think she covered a lot.  We are opposed to 
S.B. 308 (R1).  It is policy for you to consider.  There may be costs to the consumer.  That 
must be weighed against the higher limits. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Are there questions for Mr. Wadhams?  [There were none.]  Is there anyone neutral on 
S.B. 308 (R1)?   
 
Robert L. Compan, Manager, Government and Industry Affairs, Farmers Insurance: 
I will make my testimony brief and will answer any questions you might have.  This is 
a policy decision for this Committee and the Legislature to decide.  You have heard most of 
the information that was in my testimony, so I will not repeat that.  You understand what the 
limits are.  I can speak for Farmers Insurance and our subsidiaries.  We currently insure 



Assembly Committee on Transportation 
May 9, 2017 
Page 42 
 
200,000 autos in the state.  About 10 percent of our customers are at the lowest limits, so 
it will affect about 20,000.  Our actuarial costs, which are done by people who know math, 
range from $120 to $240 per year.   
 
We also have a nonstandard company, Bristol West.  Let me explain what a nonstandard 
company is.  It is for insureds in unique situations.  Maybe parents have a child they do not 
want to put on their policy because it would be too expensive, or maybe an immigrant has 
a drivers authorization card but no driving history so does not qualify for a standard auto 
policy.  Such policies usually carry premiums of about $1,000 every six months.  To meet 
the new proposed state minimums, Bristol West's average rate increase for the bodily injury 
portion would be 17 percent and property damage would be 5 percent.  So the average 
increase for those using our nonstandard company would be around $500 a year.   
 
In the Senate, we asked for a change in the effective date of the bill.  I think we had 
an agreement with the bill sponsor to have 12 to 18 months to work with the changes.  I am 
happy to answer any questions. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Are there questions from Committee members?  [There were none.]  Obviously you have 
statistics available to you from Farmers' claims.  What is an average amount paid out on 
property damage and on bodily injury?   
 
Robert Compan: 
I asked our bodily injury and our property damage centers what our averages are in Nevada.  
Our average bodily injury claim is a little over $11,000, which is also under the $15,000 
mandatory limit.  Our average property damage claim is a little over $5,000, which is also 
under the current $10,000 mandatory limit. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
When you talk about property damage, are your referring to damage done to the vehicle or 
damage done to a building or personal property? 
 
Robert Compan: 
It encompasses everything.  I would say 99 percent is damage to auto, but we do pay for 
power poles, walls, and things of that nature.  For the majority, that $5,000 is for damage 
done auto to auto.  You are looking at everything from parking lot accidents to high-damage 
accidents.  I could ask for a breakdown by minor damages of those claims over the $10,000 
limit.   
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Chairman Carrillo:  
I am looking at the letter (Exhibit Q) that you sent to the Committee.  The chart at the back 
shows that California is still at the limits of 15/30/5.  How many people live in California?  
We have 2.9 million people living in our state.  I wonder why a state as big as California, 
with such a large population has such low limits.  We get busy in Las Vegas and Reno with 
24/7 activity.  I am not out on the streets late at night, but some people are because they work 
second or third shift.  How does California compare to Nevada?  We have a lot of people 
from California come to Nevada to enjoy our state.   
 
Robert Compan:  
California is not part of my territory, but from what I understand California has what they 
call an "assigned risk pool."  It is for people who cannot buy standard insurance.  They can 
be assigned a risk to purchase insurance in California at a much cheaper rate.  The risk is 
shared among several carriers that are assigned by the California Department of Insurance.  
It is my understanding that the program is very much underused, fewer than 2 percent of 
those eligible for the program use it.  I can ask my counterparts in California to provide that 
information. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
I just find it odd that a state that large, with as much urban sprawl as it has and as busy as its 
roads are, has the low policy limits of 15/30/5.  Any information you could provide would be 
appreciated.   
 
Does anyone else on the Committee have questions?  [There was no one.]  There is no one 
else waiting to testify as neutral.  Does the bill sponsor have closing comments? 
 
Senator Harris: 
It is my understanding that California is doing a study to look at increasing their insurance 
minimum limits.  It will not be done during this legislative session, but it is on the minds of 
legislators.  They are looking at what that would mean for California.  Six states have the 
same insurance minimums that we have.  Pennsylvania was looking at increasing theirs.  
Several states are looking at reform, but I do not know what the timing is.  They are curious, 
like we are.   
 
Thank you very much for your time.  I appreciate your careful deliberation and your 
questions. 
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Chairman Carrillo:  
I have been trying to follow Pennsylvania and Arizona as they look into raising their 
minimum limits.  From what I have found, Pennsylvania looked at this two years ago; it was 
not recently. 
 
Senator Harris: 
It is my understanding that their legislature was considering it this session. 
 
Chairman Carrillo:  
Arizona looked at it as well.  We will close the hearing on S.B. 308 (R1).  We are now open 
to public comment.  [There was none.]  We are adjourned [at 6:37 p.m.]. 
 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 
 
 
 

  
Joan Waldock 
Committee Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED BY: 
 
 
 
  
Assemblyman Richard Carrillo, Chairman 
 
DATE:     



Assembly Committee on Transportation 
May 9, 2017 
Page 45 
 

EXHIBITS 
 

Exhibit A is the Agenda. 
 
Exhibit B is the Attendance Roster. 
 
Exhibit C is a conceptual amendment to Senate Bill 320 (2nd Reprint) presented by Garrett 
Gordon, representing Community Association Institute. 
 
Exhibit D is the Work Session Document for Senate Bill 13 dated May 9, 2017, presented by 
Jann Stinnesbeck, Committee Policy Analyst, Research Division, Legislative Counsel 
Bureau. 
 
Exhibit E is the Work Session Document for Senate Bill 15 dated May 9, 2017, presented by 
Jann Stinnesbeck, Committee Policy Analyst, Research Division, Legislative Counsel 
Bureau. 

Exhibit F is the Work Session Document for Senate Bill 31 (1st Reprint) dated May 9, 2017, 
presented by Jann Stinnesbeck, Committee Policy Analyst, Research Division, Legislative 
Counsel Bureau. 

Exhibit G is a mock-up of Proposed Amendment 4374 to Senate Bill 448 (1st Reprint), 
presented by Senator Patricia Farley, Senate District No. 8. 

Exhibit H is a proposed amendment to Senate Bill 448 (1st Reprint), dated May 8, 2017, 
presented by Jeanette Belz, representing National Association of Surety Bond Producers. 
 
Exhibit I is a mock-up of Proposed Amendment 4469 to Senate Bill 452 (1st Reprint), dated 
May 8, 2017, presented by Senator Tick Segerblom, Senate District No. 3. 

Exhibit J is written testimony submitted by Sophia Romero, Consumer Rights Project, Legal 
Aid Center of Southern Nevada, regarding Senate Bill 452 (1st Reprint). 

Exhibit K is a letter dated May 4, 2017, to The Honorable Richard Carrillo and the Assembly 
Transportation Committee, from Catalina Jelkh Pareja, Government Affairs Representative, 
LKQ Corporation, regarding Senate Bill 452 (1st Reprint). 

Exhibit L is a document titled "Nevada Division of Insurance, Exhibit 1, Senate Bill 308, 
2017," prepared by the Division of Insurance, Department of Business and Industry, and 
presented at the March 28, 2017, Senate Committee on Transportation hearing by Rajat Jain, 
Chief, Property and Casualty Section, Division of Insurance, Department of Business and 
Industry. 

 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033A.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/AttendanceRosterGeneric.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033C.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033D.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033E.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033F.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033G.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033H.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033I.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033J.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033K.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033L.pdf


Assembly Committee on Transportation 
May 9, 2017 
Page 46 
 
Exhibit M is fact sheet titled "Vehicle accidents on the rise," presented by Senator Becky 
Harris, Senate District No. 9. 

Exhibit N is a map titled "Auto Insurance Limits," presented by Senator Becky Harris, Senate 
District No. 9. 

Exhibit O is a booklet titled "Consumer's Guide to Auto Insurance Rates," authored by 
Division of Insurance, Department of Business and Industry, submitted by Jeanette Belz, 
representing Property Casualty Insurers Association of America. 

Exhibit P is a letter dated May 9, 2017 with enclosure, in opposition to Senate Bill 308 
(1st Reprint) to Chairman Carrillo, Vice Chair Spiegel, and the Assembly Committee on 
Transportation, authored by Jeremy Merz, Christian Rataj, and Mark Sektnan, Property 
Casualty Insurers Association of America. 

Exhibit Q is a letter dated May 9, 2017, with enclosure, neutral on Senate Bill 308 
(1st Reprint) to Chairman Carrillo and the Assembly Transportation Committee, authored by 
Robert L. Compan, Manager, Government and Industry Affairs, Farmers Group, 
Incorporated. 

 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033M.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033N.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033O.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033P.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Assembly/TRANS/ATRANS1033Q.pdf

